IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

SCOTLANE McCUNE,

Defendant and Appellant.

S276303

First District Court of Appeal No. A163579

Napa County Superior Court No. CR183930

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the Decision of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Five

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for Napa County, Honorable Mark S. Boessenecker, Judge

> KAIYA R. PIROLO Attorney at Law 1839 Ygnacio Valley Rd #234 Walnut Creek, CA 94598 (925) 494-1180 kaiya@pirololaw.com State Bar No. 280393

Attorney for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Probation is "qualitatively different from such traditional forms of punishment as fines or imprisonment" because probation is "an act of clemency in lieu of punishment" and "its primary purpose is rehabilitative in nature [citation]." (*People v. Howard* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1081, 1092.) "A grant of probation is *intended* to afford the defendant an opportunity to demonstrate over the prescribed probationary term that his or her conduct has reformed to the degree that punishment for the offense may be

mitigated or waived." (People v. Feyrer (2010) 48 Cal.4th 426, 439, emphasis in original, superseded by statute on other grounds, as stated by People v. Park (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 789, fn. 4.) Successful completion of probation is a means for a person to achieve "reinstatement to his former status in society" without the stigma of prior criminality haunting him for the rest of his life. (Stephens v. Toomey (1959) 51 Cal.2d 864, 871.) Consistent with this purpose, it is only "[d]uring the probationary period" that "the court retains jurisdiction over the defendant [citation], and at any time during that period the court may, subject to statutory restrictions, modify the order suspending imposition or execution of sentence [citation]." (Howard, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1092; accord Feyrer, supra, 48 Cal.4th 426, 440 ["the probation" statutes confer upon the trial court jurisdiction and authority over a defendant during the term of probation"].) An understanding of the foregoing aims of California's probation statutes and the strict jurisdictional limitations implemented to further these legislative goals is critical to answering the question of whether a trial court has the authority to set the amount of victim restitution after probation has expired. These considerations unerringly point to an absence of such authority.

Appellant Scotlane McCune was sentenced in June 2018 to five years of probation after pleading no contest to felony hit and run involving the injury of his passenger. One of the probation terms required payment of victim restitution in an amount to be determined at a later date. Halfway through his probationary period, the Legislature enacted Assembly Bill No. 1950 (AB 1950), which amended Penal Code¹ section 1203.1, subdivision (a), so that a felony probation term such as his could not exceed two years. (Stats. 2020, ch. 238.) As a result, McCune's probation automatically terminated on January 1, 2021 without the court setting an amount of victim restitution.

On May 3, 2021, following a hearing, the trial court determined it had jurisdiction to set an amount of victim restitution. McCune was subsequently ordered to pay \$21,365.94 in victim restitution.

The Legislature has mandated that courts order full victim restitution for economic losses related to the defendant's criminal conduct. (§ 1202.4, subd. (f).) If those losses cannot be ascertained at sentencing, the amount of restitution shall be determined later at the direction of the court. (*Ibid*.)

Section 1203.3 confers authority to the court to revoke, modify, or change a probationer's sentence, but specifies that the authority exists only during the term of probation. (§ 1203.3, subd. (a).) It further allows the court to modify a restitution order pursuant to section 1202.4, subdivision (f) "during the term of the probation." (§ 1203.3, subd. (b)(5).) Read together, these statutes direct that a restitution order may not be modified when a defendant is no longer on probation. Two cases, *Hilton v. Superior Court* (2014) 239 Cal.App.4th 766 and *People v. Waters* (2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 822, support this interpretation.

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

The Court of Appeal below rejected *Hilton*'s and *Waters*'s interpretations of the statutory framework and instead found that section 1202.46—which allows the court to "retain jurisdiction over a person subject to a restitution order for purposes of imposing or modifying restitution until such time as the losses may be determined"—was not limited by section 1203.3's restriction on the court's authority to modify probation solely before it expires. The Court of Appeal erroneously upheld the trial court's finding that it retained jurisdiction to set an amount of restitution beyond the termination of McCune's probation. Additionally, in *People v. Zuniga*, Division One of the Fourth District Court of Appeal recently and wrongly concluded that a trial court retains jurisdiction under a similar set of facts, finding section 1202.46 controlling and disregarding the statutory analysis of *Hilton* and *Waters*. (People v. Zuniga (2022) 79 Cal.App.5th 870, 876.)

The holdings of *Hilton* and *Waters* are compelled by the statutory schemes for restitution and probation. Section 1202.46 does not extend a court's jurisdiction over a person who is no longer on probation. Reading section 1202.46 in conjunction with section 1170 demands an interpretation that section 1202.46 is, in fact, inapplicable to cases where a defendant is granted probation. (*Waters, supra*, 241 Cal.App.4th at pp. 830-831; accord, *Hilton, supra*, 239 Cal.App.4th at pp. 781-782.) In the context of probation, the Legislature has made no provision for ordering the tolling of a court's jurisdiction to modify restitution after the expiration of probation. Applying established canons of

statutory construction, it should be presumed – as the plain reading of section 1203.3 suggests – that the Legislature therefore intentionally limited a court's authority to modify a term of probation, including restitution, to the probationary period. (See, e.g., *Pacific Gas & Electric Co. v. Public Utilities Com.* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 812, 842-843; *Moore v. Hill* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1267, 1282.) To hold otherwise would grant courts everlasting jurisdiction over former probationers to impose additional restitution in perpetuity.

This Court should find that the trial court's order setting an amount of restitution was an act in excess of its jurisdiction and reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 15, 2017, the Napa County District Attorney filed a felony information charging McCune in count one with felony hit and run involving injury of another person (Veh. Code, § 20001(a)) and in count two with a misdemeanor violation of driving without a valid license (Veh. Code, § 12500(a)). (CT² 26-27.)

On May 15, 2018, pursuant to a negotiated disposition, McCune pleaded no contest to felony hit and run involving injury of another person (Veh. Code, § 20001, subd. (a)) and the prosecution dismissed the misdemeanor count. (CT 38-42; 12 RT 856-857.) On June 13, 2018, the trial court suspended imposition

² Citations made to the clerk's transcript on appeal will be abbreviated "CT" and citations made to the reporter's transcript on appeal will be abbreviated "RT".

of sentence and placed McCune on formal probation for five years subject to terms and conditions, including 120 days in county jail and that he pay victim restitution in an amount to be determined by the probation officer and the court. (CT 63; 13 RT 908-909.)

On December 31, 2020, the probation department filed a restitution investigation report, indicating that the victim had submitted a restitution claim in the amount of \$30,166.23 for medical bills to the district attorney's office in April 2018. (CT 60, 85.) The following day, January 1, 2021, AB 1950 went into effect. With exceptions not relevant to this case, the new law amended section 1203.1, subdivision (a) to reduce the maximum felony probation term to two years.

On January 13, 2021, the probation department, in concurrence with the district attorney's office, filed a petition and order pursuant to AB 1950 to terminate McCune's probation. (CT 133-135.) The next day, the trial court signed the petition terminating McCune's probation pursuant to AB 1950. (CT 135.)

On January 22, 2021, the prosecution filed a request to place the case on calendar to set a restitution hearing. (CT 86-87.) On May 3, 2021, following briefing by both parties and a hearing, the trial court found that it had jurisdiction to set an amount of victim restitution. (CT 131; 18 RT 1131.)

On September 24, 2021, the trial court ordered McCune to pay \$21,365.94 in victim restitution after the parties reached an agreement and stipulated to that amount, with the understanding that the defense continued to object to and would appeal the trial court's finding that it had jurisdiction to order restitution. (CT 138; 22 RT 1355-1356.)

McCune timely appealed from the restitution order on September 24, 2021. (CT 139.) On July 25, 2022, Division Five of the First District Court of Appeal issued a published opinion affirming the judgment. (*People v. McCune* (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 648.)

On October 26, 2022, this Court granted McCune's petition for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. THE INCIDENT

The following facts pertaining to the incident are taken from the preliminary hearing held on November 9, 2017.

On June 10, 2017, at approximately 9:55 p.m., California Highway Patrol officer Riley Sullivan was dispatched to Imola Avenue and Parrish Road in Napa County in response to a traffic collision. (5 RT 203-204.) Upon arrival, he saw a red Mustang sedan had crashed head on into a tree and the front end of the car had been totaled. (5 RT 205-206.) The passenger, Miguel Villa, was outside of the car being helped by several people. (5 RT 205.) Mr. Villa told Officer Sullivan that the driver—a white male, approximately 30 years old, who was a stranger with whom he hitched a ride—had fled the scene. (5 RT 206-27.)

Officer Sullivan spoke with Miguel Calderon, who arrived on the scene after Sullivan. (5 RT 207.) Calderon told Sullivan he was the registered owner of the Mustang but the Mustang's driver was his cousin, McCune, and that he and McCune had switched cars for the day. (5 RT 207-208.) Calderon gave Sullivan McCune's information and address. (5 RT 208.)

Sullivan went to McCune's address but he was not there. (5 RT 209.) He visited Villa at the hospital to check on his injuries later that evening. (5 RT 209.) Villa admitted that he actually did know the driver and that it was his friend, McCune. (5 RT 209.) Villa told Sullivan that when they were driving, McCune accelerated at a high rate of speed and lost control of the car, colliding with the tree. (5 RT 210.) The car started smoking and McCune helped Villa get out of the car before fleeing the scene. (5 RT 210.)

While at the hospital, Sullivan spoke with McCune, who was sitting in one of the hospital beds with an ice pack on his hand. (5 RT 213.) McCune admitted to being the driver of the Mustang and relayed the same version of events as Villa. (5 RT 213.) He ran from the scene because he was scared and in shock. (5 RT 215.) He said he knew what he did was wrong and stated that he did not have a California driver's license. (5 RT 214, 216.)

II. THE PLEA AND SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS

Prior to sentencing, the probation department sent a letter to Villa on May 22, 2018, requesting documentation for restitution claim purposes. (CT 84.) On May 31, 2018, a probation officer spoke with Villa on the phone, who stated he was seeking restitution, but he was unsure of the specific amount because he was still receiving medical bills. (CT 108.) Probation sent a second letter to Villa on June 13, 2018, the same day of sentencing. (CT 84.) Villa did not respond to that letter. (CT 84.) At McCune's sentencing hearing, the court placed him on formal probation for a five-year period under the terms and conditions listed in the probation report. (CT 60; 13 RT 909.) One of those terms, number 18, read as follows:

18. Pay restitution to Miguel Villa and/or the California Victim Compensation & Government Claims Board in an amount to be determined by the Probation Officer and the Court, plus interest at 10% per year from the date of sentencing, in a manner to be determined by the California Service Bureau and the Court.

(CT 63.)

On July 31, 2020, the probation department filed a restitution investigation report indicating that restitution was not an issue because Villa did not respond to the two letters from probation. (CT 84.) However, on December 31, 2020, the probation department filed a second restitution investigation report, indicating the first restitution report was filed in error. (CT 85.) In fact, Villa had submitted a restitution claim in the amount of \$30,166.23 for medical bills in April 2018 to the district attorney's office, one month before probation spoke to Villa and sent the first letter requesting documentation. (CT 60, 85.)

At the restitution hearing held after McCune's probation had been terminated, the prosecution stated that probation had emailed Villa twice prior to sentencing asking for a restitution amount, to which Villa replied he was unable to determine an amount. (18 RT 1126.) The prosecution was not sure whether Villa sent his restitution claim letter to probation or to the district attorney's office, and the prosecution had no idea where that letter went. (18 RT 1126.)

The trial court determined that it had jurisdiction to impose restitution even though probation had been terminated:

And [defense counsel], I understand your argument, I just don't agree that the equities on this particular issue augur in favor of [McCune]. Number one, and I think [the defense is] right when you talk about that the report from probation, but the fact of the matter is, the condition does say, pay restitution in amount to be determined by the probation, by the probation officer and the court. That is the language of the probation condition. But the thing that persuades me the most is the fact that both statutorily and constitutionally, restitution has a real significant position in the criminal law in California. And I think it's different from other probation conditions where I clearly. I think I clearly would be in agreement with [the defense], but not in this particular circumstance. [¶] So whether you look at it from the probation condition argument or the 1202.4, 1203.1, I think the Court does have jurisdiction to determine restitution in this matter.

(18 RT 1131.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED IN EXCESS OF ITS JURISDICTION WHEN IT SET AN AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION AFTER McCUNE'S PROBATION TERMINATED PURSUANT TO AB 1950.

A. <u>Proposition 8 and the Subsequent Victim Restitution</u> <u>Framework.</u>

In 1982, California voters passed Proposition 8, also known as The Victims' Bill of Rights, which added article I, section 28, to the California Constitution. (*People v. Giordano* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 644, 652.) That provision provided crime victims the right to receive restitution "from the persons convicted of the crimes for losses they suffer." (*People v. Giordano* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 644, 652; see also *In re Brittany L.* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 1381, 1386; Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (b)(13)(B) ["Restitution shall be ordered from the convicted wrongdoer in every case, regardless of the sentence or disposition imposed, in which a crime victim suffers a loss"].) However, when the voters considered Proposition 8, "[t]he ballot arguments for and against the measure scarcely mentioned restitution."" (*People v. Birkett* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 226, 244.)

Article I, section 28, subdivision (b), which has since been amended, expressly ordered the Legislature to enact statutes to implement a new victim restitution framework. (*In re Brittany L.*, *supra*, 99 Cal.App.4th at p. 1386; *Giordano, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 652.) In response, in 1995, the Legislature amended section 1202.4 "to create a uniform restitutionary scheme for all adult offenders." (*Birkett, supra*, 21 Cal.4th at p. 248, fn. 21.) Thus, today, most of the provisions of the criminal victim restitution scheme are located in section 1202.4.

Under the framework enacted by the Legislature, restitution must be ordered in all cases where a victim has suffered a loss. (*Giordano, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 653; § 1202.4.) This is codified in section 1202.4, subdivision (f), which provides: "in every case in which a victim has suffered economic loss as a result of the defendant's conduct, the court shall require that the defendant make restitution to the victim or victims in an amount established by court order, based on the amount of loss claimed by the victim or victims or any other showing to the court." Moreover, section 1202.4 mandates that "[t]he court shall order full restitution." (§ 1202.4, subd. (f).)

In cases where probation is granted, restitution must be ordered as a condition of probation. (§ 1202.4, subd. (l)³ ["In every case in which the defendant is granted probation, the court shall make the payment of restitution fines and order imposed pursuant to this section a condition of probation."].) Section 1202.4 does not expressly grant trial courts the power to impose restitution in probation cases other than as a condition of probation, and subdivision (l) suggests that victim restitution in the context of a probation sentence may only be ordered as a condition of probation. (*Waters, supra,* 241 Cal.App.4th at p. 830.)

³ Effective January 1, 2022, Assembly Bill No. 177 amended section 1202.4 to, in relevant part, renumber subdivisions such that former section 1202.4, subdivision (m), is now subdivision (l).

Section 1203.1, which vests a court with discretion to impose terms of probation, specifies that "[t]he court shall provide for restitution in proper cases." (§ 1203.1, subd. (a)(3).) The same statute mandates that a court consider restitution in all cases: "The court shall consider whether the defendant as a condition of probation shall make restitution to the victim or the Restitution Fund." (§ 1203.1, subd. (b).)

In turn, section 1203.3, subdivision (b)(3), limits the court's authority to revoke or modify probation to the probationary period. Section 1203.3, subdivision (b)(3), specifies that "if the court has not seen fit to revoke the order of probation and impose sentence or pronounce judgment, the defendant shall at the end of the term of probation or any extension thereof, be discharged by the court" (§ 1203.3, subd. (b)(3); accord *People v. White* (1982) 133 Cal.App.3d 677, 682 ["An order revoking probation must be made within the period of time circumscribed in the order of probation. Otherwise, the probationary period terminates automatically on the last day"].)

Section 1203.3, subdivision (b)(4) provides, in relevant part: "The court may modify the time and manner of the term of probation for purposes of measuring the timely payment of restitution obligations or the good conduct and reform of the defendant *while on probation*." (Italics added.) Specific to restitution, section 1203.3, subdivision (b)(5) provides that "This section does not prohibit the court from modifying the dollar amount of a restitution order pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 1202.4 at any time *during the term of the probation*." (Italics added.)

B. <u>The Statutory Provisions Indicate that the</u> <u>Legislature Intended to Restrict the Trial Court's</u> <u>Jurisdiction to Impose Restitution to the</u> <u>Probationary Period.</u>

Although article I, section 28 of the California Constitution provided a "broad constitutional mandate" that restitution be imposed in every case where a crime victim suffers loss, there were aspects of that mandate that were left open to interpretation by the Legislature. (See *Giordano, supra,* 42 Cal.4th at pp. 649, 655 [finding that the scope of losses, which was left undefined by Proposition 8, extended to the future economic losses incurred by the deceased victim's surviving spouse as a result of the victim's death].) The trial court's jurisdictional limits to set a restitution amount was one such aspect that was left unaddressed by article I, section 28, subdivision (b).

To determine the scope of the trial court's jurisdiction to impose restitution, this Court must "look to the statutes the Legislature has enacted to implement this constitutional provision." (*Giordano, supra,* 42 Cal.4th at p. 655.) "[I]t is well settled that when the Legislature is charged with implementing an unclear constitutional provision, the Legislature's interpretation of the measure deserves great deference." (*Birkett, supra,* 21 Cal.4th at p. 244.) "When the Legislature has 'adopted a plausible interpretation of the constitutional provision,' we defer to its determination." (*Giordano, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 656, quoting *Birkett, supra*, 21 Cal.4th at p. 244.)

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