No. S276303

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

SCOTLANE MCCUNE,

Defendant and Appellant.

First Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. A163579 Napa County Superior Court, Case No. CR183930 The Honorable Mark S. Boessenecker, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

SECTIONS 1202.4 AND 1202.46 EXTEND A TRIAL COURT'S JURISDICTION TO FIX THE AMOUNT OF VICTIM RESTITUTION "UNTIL SUCH TIME AS THE LOSSES MAY BE DETERMINED," REGARDLESS OF WHETHER PROBATION HAS TERMINATED

Termination of appellant's probation after the passage of A.B. 1950 did not deprive the trial court of jurisdiction to determine the amount of victim restitution ordered at sentencing

pursuant to sections 1202.4 and 1202.46. Because the trial court ordered that restitution be paid, but deferred calculation of the amount at the time of sentencing, section 1202.46 extended the trial court's jurisdiction to fix the amount "until such time as the losses may be determined." There is no statutory or other restriction that terminated the court's jurisdiction when appellant's probationary period ended. This interpretation accords with the plain language of the relevant statutory provisions governing restitution, fulfills California's constitutional and statutory mandates that crime victims receive full restitution for economic losses suffered as a result of a crime, and gives victims an equal opportunity to receive full restitution no matter whether the defendant was placed on probation or sentenced to prison.

A. Principles of statutory construction

"The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law." (People v. Skiles (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1178, 1185.) To properly ascertain the Legislature's intent, a reviewing court "must first look at the plain and commonsense meaning of the statute because it is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent and purpose." (People v. Cochran (2002) 28 Cal.4th 396, 400.) "If there is no ambiguity or uncertainty in the language, the Legislature is presumed to have meant what it said," and courts "need not resort to legislative history to determine the statute's true meaning." (Id. at pp. 400-401.)

To the extent the statutory text is ambiguous, a reviewing court may look to extrinsic interpretive aids, including the ostensible objectives to be achieved and the legislative history. (*People v. Gutierrez* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1354, 1369.) Ultimately, a court should adopt "the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.)

With respect to restitution statutes specifically, this Court has long noted that, to properly fulfill the intent of the People, such statutes are to be broadly and liberally construed. (See *People v. Stanley* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 734, 737 ["In keeping with the [voters'] "unequivocal intention" that victim restitution be made, statutory provisions implementing the constitutional directive have been broadly and liberally construed"].)

B. The California Constitution and implementing legislation unambiguously require that crime victims receive full restitution for economic losses suffered as a result of a crime

"In 1982, California voters passed Proposition 8, also known as The Victims' Bill of Rights." (*People v. Giordano* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 644, 652.) "Proposition 8 established the right of crime victims to receive restitution directly 'from the persons convicted of the crimes for losses they suffer." (*Ibid.*, quoting Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, former subd. (b).) "The initiative added article I, section 28, subdivision (b) to the California Constitution: 'It is the unequivocal intention of the People of the State of California that all persons who suffer losses as a result of criminal activity shall have the right to restitution from the persons convicted of

the crimes for losses they suffer. [¶] Restitution shall be ordered from the convicted persons in every case, regardless of the sentence or disposition imposed, in which a crime victim suffers a loss, unless compelling and extraordinary reasons exist to the contrary." (*Ibid.*)

Proposition 8 marked a significant change in the law, which until that time had provided that a trial court's decision to impose victim restitution as a condition of probation was discretionary in nature. (Giordano, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 652.) But the constitutional amendment was not self-executing and it required the Legislature to adopt implementing legislation during the calendar year following its adoption. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, former subd. (b).) In accord with this constitutional mandate, the Legislature enacted several statutory provisions governing different aspects of victim restitution. (See Giordano, at pp. 652-653 [discussing development of restitution legislation].)

By the mid-1990's, the Legislature had consolidated much of its piecemeal restitution scheme into section 1202.4, deleting or repealing those sections that were subsumed therein. (*Giordano*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 653.) "The 1994 amendments to Penal Code section 1202.4 were enacted 'to expand the ability of the victims to receive restitution, both directly and from the restitution fund." (*Ibid.*, quoting Assem. Com. on Public Safety, analysis of Assem. Bill No. 3169 (1993-1994 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 4, 1994, p. 2.) The Legislature also expanded the trial court's jurisdiction for purposes of imposing and modifying

victim restitution when it cannot be determined at sentencing by adding section 1202.46 to the Penal Code effective January 1, 2000. (Stats. 1999, ch. 888, § 3.)

In 2008, California voters passed Proposition 9, the Victims' Bill of Rights Act of 2008 (Marsy's Law), which "substantially amended article I, section 28 of the California Constitution" to "make clear that a crime 'victim' is entitled, among other things, '[t]o restitution' (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (b)(13))." (People v. Runyan (2012) 54 Cal.4th 849, 858-859.) Proposition 9 removed the exception that allowed trial courts to impose less than full restitution for "compelling and extraordinary reasons," and rewrote section 28 of the Constitution to include 17 specific and expansive victim rights, including restitution. (See People v. Pierce (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1334, 1338, fn. 2; Slaieh v. Superior Court of Riverside County (2022) 77 Cal.App.5th 266, 272; Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (b)(13).)

In accordance with the constitutional mandate, section 1202.4 as currently written requires that full restitution be ordered in every case where a victim suffers an economic loss resulting from a crime, regardless of whether probation is granted. (§ 1202.4; *Giordano*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 653.) Subdivision (a)(1) unambiguously declares, "It is the intent of the Legislature that a victim of crime who incurs an economic loss as a result of the commission of a crime shall receive restitution directly from a defendant convicted of that crime." (§ 1202.4, subd. (a)(1).) To implement this goal, section 1202.4 directs a trial court to order a defendant to pay "[r]estitution to the victim

or victims, if any, in accordance with subdivision (f), which shall be enforceable as if the order were a civil judgment." (*Id.* at subd. (a)(3)(B).) Subdivision (f) of that section provides:

[I]n every case in which a victim has suffered economic loss as a result of the defendant's conduct, the court shall require that the defendant make restitution to the victim or victims in an amount established by court order, based on the amount of loss claimed by the victim or victims or any other showing to the court. . . . The court shall order full restitution.

(§ 1202.4, subd. (f), italics added.) "To the extent possible, the restitution order shall be prepared by the sentencing court." (*Id.* at subd. (f)(3).)

Section 1202.4 further states that "[i]f the amount of loss cannot be ascertained at the time of sentencing, the restitution order shall include a provision that the amount shall be determined at the direction of the court." (§ 1202.4, subd. (f).) And section 1202.46 specifies, "Notwithstanding Section 1170, when the economic losses of a victim cannot be ascertained at the time of sentencing pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 1202.4, the court shall retain jurisdiction over a person subject to a restitution order for purposes of imposing or modifying restitution until such time as the losses may be determined." (§ 1202.46, italics added.)

A trial court generally may not "stray from the statutory mandate of 'full restitution." (*Pierce*, *supra*, 234 Cal.App.4th at p. 1338, quoting § 1202.4, subd. (f).) Rather, "if there is a victim and that victim has suffered economic loss as a result of the defendant's conduct, the court *must* order restitution to be paid to

the victim." (*People v. Valdez* (1994) 24 Cal.App.4th 1194, 1202; see *People v. Bernal* (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 155, 165 ["Section 1202.4 requires 'full restitution.' An order providing less is . . . invalid"].) "The victims' right to restitution is a constitutional one" that "cannot be bargained away or limited by" the parties. (*Pierce*, at pp. 1337-1338; see *Valdez*, at p. 1202-1203 [victim restitution cannot be waived by the prosecution and is not subject to negotiation between the prosecution and defense].)

C. Sections 1202.4 and 1202.46 fulfill California's constitutional requirement of full restitution by granting trial courts continuing jurisdiction as needed to determine the restitution amount, even after probation expires

Sections 1202.4 and 1202.46 manifest a legislative intent to extend a trial court's jurisdiction as needed to ascertain and set the amount of victim restitution, regardless of a defendant's probation status. This accords with California's constitutional mandate that crime victims receive full restitution for losses suffered as a result of crime.

Appellant does not dispute that section 1202.46 in general operates to continue a trial court's jurisdiction as needed to determine and set a restitution amount. He contends, however, that, in contrast to cases where a defendant was sentenced to prison, section 1202.46 does not apply to probation cases at all. Not only does the statutory language belie this interpretation, but there is no indication that the Legislature contemplated that two different rules would apply depending on whether the defendant received probation or a prison term.

In fact, the restitution statutes in their current form were designed to implement the constitutional mandate that crime victims receive full restitution from the defendant for their economic losses, "regardless of the sentence or disposition imposed." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (b)(13).) It is not the defendant's sentence but the victim's economic loss that animates the constitutional and statutory scheme. As long as victim restitution was ordered at the time of sentencing but could not then be calculated, the trial court retains jurisdiction to set the amount whenever it can be ascertained.

1. The plain language of sections 1202.4 and 1202.46 extend a trial court's jurisdiction to set the amount of restitution "until such time as the losses may be determined," regardless of the disposition of a case

When it enacted section 1202.4, the Legislature stated its intent that a victim who suffers an economic loss as a result of a crime shall receive "full restitution" from a defendant convicted of that crime. (§ 1202.4, subds. (a), (f).) The Legislature anticipated, however, that in some cases the amount of full restitution will not be ascertainable at the time of sentencing, or even for months or years afterwards. (See, e.g., *Giordano*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 657-658 ["Many, if not all, of the categories of loss compensable as direct restitution include losses that are incurred after the occurrence of the crime, and which may continue to be incurred for a substantial period of time following a restitution hearing," including "weeks, months, or possibly years"], citing § 1202.4, subd. (f)(3).)

Accordingly, and to fulfill its constitutional obligation to provide full restitution to crime victims, the Legislature enacted two separate statutory provisions that, taken together, manifest its intent that the trial court retains jurisdiction as needed to properly determine a victim's amount of loss—even where, as here, the probation term has already expired. Section 1202.4, subdivision (f), provides that "[i]f the amount of loss cannot be ascertained at the time of sentencing, the restitution order shall include a provision that the amount shall be determined at the direction of the court." (§ 1202.4, subd. (f).) And section 1202.46 directs that in such cases, "the court shall retain jurisdiction over a person subject to a restitution order for purposes of imposing or modifying restitution until such time as the losses may be determined." (§ 1202.46, italics added.)

Operating together, sections 1202.4 and 1202.46 mean what they say—all crime victims are entitled to full restitution, and if the amount of loss cannot be ascertained at the time of sentencing, the trial court retains jurisdiction to set the amount after it can be determined, irrespective of the defendant's probation status. (Opn. 5; *People v. Zuniga* (2022) 79 Cal.App.5th 870, 876.) Although the language of section 1202.46 refers to this as "imposing or modifying" restitution, it is clear when reading the provisions together that they simply authorize a court to fulfill the terms of a restitution order previously imposed at the time of sentencing by fixing the amount of restitution. This interpretation accords with California's constitutional mandate for full restitution for crime victims. (See *Giordano*, *supra*, 42

Cal.4th at p. 658 ["[n]othing in the language of the Constitution suggests an intent to limit the right to restitution for financial losses occurring within a particular time frame, or restitution to expenses incurred before sentencing"].)

Appellant nonetheless contends that section 1202.46's introductory clause—"Notwithstanding section 1170"—means that the section applies only to cases in which a term of imprisonment is imposed under section 1170. (OBM 42.) This is particularly so, appellant argues, because when the Legislature amended section 1202.46 in 2016, it could have, but did not, modify that introductory clause to reference not just section 1170, but section 1203.3 as well. (OBM 41-42.)³

Appellant's argument fails to persuade, as it overlooks material distinctions between former section 1170 and section 1203.3. Specifically, section 1202.46's reference to section 1170 was necessary because, at the time section 1202.46 was enacted, section 1170, subdivision (d), ended a court's jurisdiction to vacate or modify a sentence once 120 days had passed from the date of sentencing. The same limitation is now stated in section 1172.1, subdivision (a). (See *People v. Loper* (2015) 60 Cal.4th

³ As will be explained, *post*, appellant misreads the cases he primarily relies on to support his contrary interpretation of section 1203.3. Significantly, appellant does not contend that any changes made to the language of section 1203.3 between section 1202.46's enactment in 2000 and amendment in 2016 would have required the additional "notwithstanding section 1203.3" language he claims is necessary for section 1202.46 to apply in probation cases.

1155, 1165 [under former section 1170, subdivision (d), "the trial court loses jurisdiction to resentence on its own motion after 120 days has elapsed"].)

Section 1203.3, in contrast, contains no provision comparable to former section 1170's termination of jurisdiction to alter a sentence after 120 days. Appellant argues that section 1203.3 operates similarly to restrict a trial court's authority to set a restitution amount in probation cases after the term of probation has ended because it specifies that a trial court has the authority and jurisdiction to revoke, modify, or change a probation order at any time during the term of probation. (§ 1203.3, subd. (a); OBM 22-26, 40-44.) But the argument does not withstand scrutiny.

As it relates to restitution, section 1203.3 provides that "[t]he court may modify the time and manner of the term of probation for purposes of measuring the timely payment of restitution obligations or the good conduct and reform of the defendant while on probation. The court shall not modify the dollar amount of the restitution obligations due to the good conduct and reform of the defendant, absent compelling and extraordinary reasons." (§ 1203.3, subd. (b)(4).) Section 1203.3 further provides, "This section does not prohibit the court from modifying the dollar amount of a restitution order pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 1202.4 at any time during the term of the probation." (§ 1203.3, subd. (b)(5).)

This Court has often observed that it does "not construe statutes in isolation, but rather read[s] every statute 'with

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